COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

FEB 2 8 2019

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION HI STATE OF WASHINGTON By

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

CAMERON J. PETERSON,

Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD D. WALL, #16581 Attorney for Appellant-Petitioner

Richard D. Wall, P.S. Attorney at Law 1604 W. Dean Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-5646

A. Identity of Petitioner:

Cameron J. Peterson, asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. Decision to be Reviewed:

The decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed December 18, 2018, and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration filed January 31, 2019.

C. Issues Presented for Review:

This case presents the following question of substantial interest to the citizens of this state:

1. Whether a defendant who seeks to challenge his conviction for second degree assault on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel at trial is entitled under CrR 4.8 to a subpoena duces tecum to obtain the alleged victim's medical records to establish the absence of any injury consistent with the testimony of the State's witnesses?

D. Statement of the Case:

Appellant/Defendant Cameron Peterson was found guilty by a jury of Second Degree Assault on December 4, 2015. CP 7. The charge arose out of an incident that occurred at the Special K Tavern in April 2015. At trial, the State presented several witnesses who testified that Peterson struck the alleged Victim,

Gregory L. Zielke, Sr., over the head with a bottle, glass or other object. One witness described the blow to Mr. Zielke as resulting in a "gash" that caused significant bleeding. CP 40 - 41. Zielke allegedly lost consciousness as a result of the blow. Peterson denied striking Zielke on the head.

Following the alleged assault, Zielke was transported to Sacred Heart

Medical Center hospital for the express purpose of having him examined for
possible head injuries. CP 53. The records of that examination were not produced
by the State as part of the discovery in the case and were not introduced or
otherwise used at trial. Peterson's trial attorney made no effort to obtain the
records despite Peterson's repeated requests to do so.

Peterson appealed his conviction. Whether Peterson had received effective assistance of counsel at trial was not raised on direct appeal. CP 43 - 47. Following the denial of his appeal, Peterson made repeated efforts to obtain copies of those records from the Public Defender and from the Spokane Police Department. None of those efforts were successful. (Declaration of Cameron Peterson in Support of Motion for Relief From Judgment, p. 2).

Peterson then asked the superior court issue a subpoena to Sacred Heart Medical Center to allow him to obtain the records. CP 36. In support of that request, Peterson claimed that he had not assaulted Zeilke as described by the witnesses at trail and the medical records would not show any injury to Zeilke's head consistent with the testimony at trial. CP 37-38. Peterson's request for a subpoena was denied on the grounds that there was no action currently

pending in the superior court and that the court lacked authority to issue the requested subpoena. (CP 83-84)

Peterson then filed a motion to vacate his conviction pursuant to CrR 7.8(b) and requested the issuance of a subpoena to obtain the records to support his motion. That motion was transferred to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a Personal Restraint Petition (PRP) pursuant to CrR 7.8(c)(2). The appeal and PRP were then consolidated in the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals denied both the appeal and the PRP in an unpublished opinion. The Court of Appeals first held that CrR 4.8, which allows the superior court to issue a subpoena at the request of a party, does not apply to post-conviction proceedings. The court cited *District Attorney's Office for the Third Judicial District v. Osborne*, 557 U.S. 52, 129 S.Ct. 2308, 174 L.Ed.2d 38 (2009), and *State v. Mullen*, 171 Wn.2d 881, 902, 259 P.3d 158 (2011) as support for the proposition that the rules of discovery do not apply after a conviction.

The Court of Appeals also held that Peterson could not establish the prejudice prong of the his ineffective assistance of counsel claim and dismissed his PRP. The court reasoned that, without the actual records, Peterson's claim that use of the records at trial would probably have changed the outcome was based on nothing more than speculation.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that it was placing an impossible burden on Peterson. According to the Court of Appeals, Peterson was entitled to a subpoena to obtain the victim's medical records only if he could show actual prejudice from counsel's failure to obtain the records for use at trial.

To establish such prejudice, however, Peterson would need to present those same records to the court, which he cannot do without first getting a subpoena isued by the court. Peterson now petitions this Court for review.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted:

1. Whether a Defendant Who has Been Convicted at Trial is Entitled to a

Court Issued Subpoena to Obtain Records Necessary to Establish a Claim of

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel at Trial is a Question of Substantial Public

Interest that Should be Decided by this Court.

After exhausting all other possible means of obtaining the alleged victim's medical records, Peterson applied to the superior court for issuance of a subpoena dues tecum requiring Sacred Heart Medical Center to provide the records. In opposing the request, the State did not argue that Peterson had failed to show adequate reason for issuance of a subpoena. Instead, the State argued that the superior court had no authority to issue a subpoena because the criminal discovery rules do not apply once a defendant has been found guilty. (CP 68-82)

The Court of Appeals agreed, relying in part on the fact that CrR 4.8 comes under the heading of "PROCEDURES PRIOR TO TRIAL" and that CrR 4.7 addresses discovery, which preserves a defendant's rights while preparing for trial. The Court of Appeals also reasoned that CrR 4.8 does not apply following a conviction because there is no "action" pending before the superior court once a conviction has been affirmed on appeal.

The Court of Appeals' ruling in this case misconstrues the nature of the relief requested by Peterson and unnecessarily limits a defendant's ability to seek post-conviction relief. Regardless of whether a defendant is entitled to "discovery" following a conviction, there is no basis to limit the application of CrR 4.8 solely to pre-trial proceedings. CrR 4.8 is not a rule of discovery. Unlike CrR 4.7, CrR 4.8 imposes no obligation on either party to disclose information or materials to an opposing party. In fact, notice to the opposing party is not a requirement for issuance of a subpoena under CrR 4.8, except when the subpoena seeks production of evidence or inspection of items from a defendant or a victim. CrR 4.8(b)(2). CrR 4.8 merely provides a mechanism by which any party can obtain potentially relevant and admissible evidence from third parties through issuance of a subpoena. There is no logical reason why the superior court's power to issue a subpoena should be restricted to pre-trial proceedings only.

As a practical matter, third parties who hold information that may be considered confidential or which may expose the third party to potential liability if improperly disclosed, such as medical records, may and often do require a court order or court issued subpoena before divulging the information. Thus, limiting the superior court's ability to issue subpoenas following a conviction severely and unnecessarily limits a criminal defendant's ability to obtain information and evidence that may be highly relevant to issues raised in post-conviction proceedings.

The Court of Appeals reliance on *State v. Mullen*, 171 Wn.2d 881, 902, 259 P.3d 158 (2011) completely misreads that decision In *Mullen*, this Court

recognized that a subpoena is the proper method for obtaining documents in the possession of a third party. The Court also noted that the State's obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence prior to trial did not necessarily apply to any and all evidence discovered after trial. *Id.*, 171 Wn.2d at 902. Nothing in *Mullen* even remotely suggests that a defendant does not have the right to conduct further investigation or attempt to obtain exculpatory evidence from third parties after a conviction.

Here, the records Peterson seeks to obtain are clearly material to the question of guilt and whether he received effective assistance of counsel at trial. If the alleged victim's medical records show that he was examined and no injury consistent with the testimony of the State's witnesses was found, the credibility of those witnesses and the veracity of their testimony would be seriously undermined to say the least. Yet, according to the Court of Appeals, Peterson has no right to obtain those records. The sole justification for denying Peterson access to the records is that he has already been convicted. Whether that is a correct application of the Criminal Rules is a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

The Decision of the Court of Appeals in this Case Raises a Significant
 Question of Law Under the Washington State Constitution Regarding the Right of
 a Criminal Defendant to Seek Post-Conviction Relief.

In denying Peterson's PRP, the Court of Appeals held that he could establish the prejudice prong of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim only by

presenting the alleged victim's actual medical records. The Court of Appeals reasoned that, absent the records, any claim of prejudice from trial counsel's failure to obtain the records for use at trial was based on nothing more than "speculation."

The Court of Appeals recognized that its ruling resulted in a classic Catch-22, or what the court characterized as a "paradoxical situation." Nevertheless, the court stated that it was bound by the rule requiring a Personal Restraint petitioner alleging constitutional error to meet the threshold burden of showing actual prejudice. See, *In re Personal Restraint of Hews*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 88, 660 P.2d 263 (1983).

The Court of Appeals incorrectly applied the standard for determining when a personal restraint petitioner has met his or her initial burden of showing prejudice resulting from a constitutional error. To meet that initial burden, a petitioner need only demonstrate that the facts as alleged would potentially entitle him or her to relief. *In re Personal Restraint of Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 886-87, 828 P.2d 1086, *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 958 (1992). A petitioner need not show that he or she is in fact entitled to relief or that the petition will ultimately be successful.

Here, by requiring Peterson to present the alleged victim's actual medical records, the Court of Appeals essentially imposed as an initial burden the requirement of showing actual entitlement to relief, not simply the likelihood or potential for relief. As the Court of Appeals recognized, it is impossible for Peterson to demonstrate entitlement to relief without the actual records, which

according to the Court of Appeals, he has no right to obtain through a court issued subpoena, even though he cannot get the records without such a subpoena.

Even without the records, however, Peterson can still demonstrate the potential for relief by showing that the records, if made available to him, would likely show the absence of any injury consistent with the testimony at trial. To show a likelihood or potential of entitlement to relief, Peterson need only submit competent evidence showing that the requested records are likely to exist and will probably be exculpatory.

That is exactly what Peterson did here. Peterson submitted his own declaration stating under oath that he did not strike the alleged victim on the head with a glass bottle or other object as described by the State's witnesses. He also submitted police reports showing that the alleged victim was transported to the hospital for the express purpose of being examined for a head injury. If those facts are taken as true, there is a strong likelihood that the requested records exist and would show the absence of any injury consistent with the testimony at trial.

Of course, it is possible that the alleged victim never made it to the hospital or that he refused to be examined once there. It is also possible that any examination was inconclusive as to whether he had sustained a head injury consistent with the testimony at trial. Those possibilities, however, do not render Peterson's claim a matter of speculation. Peterson is not simply guessing that the records will be exculpatory, he has provided specific information which, if believed, raises a substantial likelihood that the records will in fact be exculpatory.

The present case is distinguishable from cases in which this Court has held that a personal restraint petitioner failed to meet his or her initial burden. For example, in *In re Personal Restraint of Rice*, 118 Wn.2d at 886, this Court held that a PRP petitioner cannot simply state what he thinks witnesses would testify to, but must present their affidavits or other corroborating evidence. Similarly, in *In re Personal Restraint of Williams*, 111 Wn.2d 353, 759 P.2d 436 (1988), this Court held that the petitioner had failed to establish a prima facie claim that prior convictions used for purposes of sentencing were unconstitutionally obtained where the petitioner did not submitted any affidavits, certified transcripts, or court dockets (all of which were readily available) showing that his guilty pleas were without assistance of counsel or were otherwise not voluntarily or knowingly entered. *Id.*, 111 Wn.2d at 664-65. The Court concluded that the petitioner's claims were nothing more than "naked castings into the constitutional sea." *Id.*, at 665.

Here, Peterson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is based on more than bare, unsupported allegations. In fact, Peterson provided the superior court with all of the evidence available to him without a court issued subpoena. At the same time, Peterson requested a subpoena to allow him to obtain records that are likely to, or at least have the potential to, demonstrate that he did not commit the crime for which he was convicted and did not receive effective assistance of counsel. This is not a case where a petitioner has simply failed to present evidence that is readily available. On the contrary, Peterson's own

declaration details the great lengths he went to in his effort to obtain those records before requesting the court to issue a subpoena.

In any event, Peterson is not claiming that the Court of Appeals was required to grant his petition based on the record as it now stands. Instead, he asserts error only in the denial of his request for a subpoena to obtain the evidence he needs to support his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Because that evidence is contained in medical records, the disclosure of which is prohibited by both state and federal laws except under specific circumstances, Peterson has no means of obtaining the records without the requested subpoena. Whether a PRP petitioner has a right to issuance of a subpoena under these circumstances is a significant and important question under the state constitution that should be determined by this Court.

VI. Conclusion:

For the foregoing reasons, this court should accept review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, and remand this case to the superior court with instructions to issue the requested subpoena.