FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/13/2019 2:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96908-6

COA No. 35686-8-III (consolidated w/35853-4-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

CAMERON J. PETERSON,

Defendant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Larry Steinmetz
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND INTRODUCTION

Respondent, State of Washington, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

In pursuit of collateral relief based upon a potential ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Peterson moved the trial court, on two separate occasions, claiming a right to compel a hospital to produce the victim's medical records. Those motions were denied.

Peterson requests this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) without meeting his burden of identifying the substantial public interest necessary for review or what section of the Washington State Constitution is implicated. In addition, Peterson did not exhaust his available post-conviction remedies to obtain the medical records.

Specifically, Peterson failed to attempt process through RCW 70.02.060, the Uniform Health Care Information Act, which allows an attorney discovery of medical records if advance notice is provided to the patient and hospital and both are given an opportunity to seek a protective order. Peterson could have attempted process for the records on his own initiative under the statute for collateral relief, subpoenaed the records under the statute for a CrR 7.8(b) motion, or he could have requested the Court of Appeals remand his petition to the trial court for a reference hearing, where, upon a motion, reasonable discovery is permitted and,

again, Peterson could have followed the proper procedures under RCW 70.02.060 to compel production of the medical records for that hearing. He did not pursue any other avenues.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Peterson filed a petition for review. Respondent seeks denial of Peterson's petition for review of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on December 18, 2018.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED

Should this Court grant Peterson's petition for review if he pursued an "all-or-nothing" approach to obtain the victim's medical records post-conviction and did not exhaust all other available remedies better suited to accomplish the same task?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history.

A jury convicted Peterson of second-degree assault. CP 7. The Court of Appeals, Division Three, affirmed the conviction by unpublished opinion. *State v. Peterson*, 197 Wn. App. 1010 (2016).

On July 12, 2017, Peterson filed a motion in the superior court for issuance of subpoena duces tecum pursuant to CrR 4.8, requesting the victim's medical records, nineteen months after the trial concluded. CP 36-56. The superior court denied the motion on October 20, 2017; the court

ruled that CrR 4.8 only applied to pre-trial matters. CP 83-86. Peterson filed a direct appeal on November 16, 2017, alleging the trial court erred by denying his motion. CP 87-88. On November 30, 2017, Peterson filed a motion for relief under CrR 7.8(b)(2), (3) and (5) in the superior court. The superior court transferred that motion to the Court of Appeals. The direct appeal and the PRP were consolidated.

V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

In analyzing Peterson's petition for review it is important to note what the appellate decision did and did not decide. It did decide that Peterson's reliance upon CrR 4.8 was not well-taken as it does not establish a right or proper avenue to obtain post-conviction discovery. The decision did not decide that Peterson was prevented from obtaining or seeking to obtain these documents by other authorized means, as discussed below. Therefore, the appellate decision is limited in its breadth to its determination that CrR 4.8 does not grant a "right" to post-conviction and post-appeal cases.

Peterson has failed to satisfy his heavy burden under RAP 13.4(b) of demonstrating that the Court of Appeals' decision presents a significant question under the state constitution or an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). Because the unique facts of this case are

controlled by extant law, no significant questions of constitutional law or substantial public interest are presented.

- This case does not present an issue of significant public importance.
 To obtain discretionary review in this Court, Peterson must establish
 the Court of Appeals' decision presents an issue of substantial public
 - b) <u>Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review</u>. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... [i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4). That rule states, in pertinent part:

Id.

Examples of "substantial public interest" include an issue that "immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture," the Court "will take a 'less rigid and more liberal' approach to standing." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Likewise, even if an issue is moot, if an issue "presents a question of a public nature which is likely to recur, and it is desirable to provide an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officials." *Id.* at 478.

Other than by bare allegation, Peterson fails to identify any past, present, or future criminal cases in the State of Washington which have been or will be impacted by the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision.

Peterson's unquantified need for future guidance is unwarranted; there is not a likelihood of reoccurrence simply because Peterson failed to pursue several other readily available mechanisms to obtain the victim's medical records (as discussed below).

2. This case does not present a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution.

Alternatively, Peterson must establish the Court of Appeals decision raises a significant question of law under Washington State constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3). That provision states, in pertinent part:

b) <u>Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review</u>. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... [i]f a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States¹ is involved.

Id.

Peterson posits the decision below raises a significant question under the Washington State Constitution regarding post-conviction relief. However, he fails to identify which section of the state constitution, if any, is implicated, let alone demonstrate a "significant question of law" is presented. Notwithstanding, Peterson had available post-conviction avenues which he could have pursued to obtain the victim's medical records regarding his allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel.

5

¹ Peterson does not allege any violation of the federal constitution.

3. Post-conviction alternatives to obtain medical records.

On two separate occasions, Peterson took an intransigent approach under CrR 4.8 when he moved the superior court to compel a subpoena duces tecum for the victim's medical records, in pursuit of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. On July 17, 2017, he moved the superior court to issue a subpoena duces tecum to Sacred Heart Medical Center for the victim's medical records. The superior court denied that motion finding that CrR 4.8 applies to pretrial discovery actions. Shortly thereafter, Peterson again moved the superior court to issue a subpoena duces tecum, for the same medical records, and also moved the court for relief from judgment under CrR 7.8(b)(2), (3) and (5) on the condition that the court order production of the medical records. In his CrR 7.8 motion, Peterson proffered a nominal argument that he received ineffective assistance of counsel asserting his trial counsel failed to obtain the medical records. The superior court transferred that motion to the Court of Appeals as a personal restraint petition.

Peterson faults the Court of Appeals, stating:

Here, by requiring Peterson to present the alleged victim's actual medical records, the Court of Appeals essentially

_

² Strikingly, Peterson has not produced an affidavit from his trial counsel regarding whether or not his counsel obtained the victim's medical records or assessed their viability for trial. Peterson's claim that his trial counsel did not obtain the victim's medical records is not supported by the record.

imposed as an initial burden the requirement of showing actual entitlement to relief, not simply the likelihood or potential for relief. As the Court of Appeals recognized, it is impossible for Peterson to demonstrate entitlement to relief without the actual records, which according to the Court of Appeals, he has no right to obtain through a court issued subpoena, even though he cannot get the records without such a subpoena.

Appellant's Br. at 7.

What Peterson fails to address or acknowledge, outside of the parameters of his "all-or-nothing" procedural pursuit of the victim's medical records by a subpoena duces tecum under CrR 4.8, is that he did not use an available, statutorily authorized procedure for obtaining those medical records. Peterson's lawyer could have attempted process through RCW 70.02.060. That statute, the Uniform Health Information Act,³

³ That statute states:

⁽¹⁾ Before service of a discovery request or compulsory process on a health care provider for health care information, an attorney shall provide advance notice to the health care provider and the patient or the patient's attorney involved through service of process or first-class mail, indicating the health care provider from whom the information is sought, what health care information is sought, and the date by which a protective order must be obtained to prevent the health care provider from complying. Such date shall give the patient and the health care provider adequate time to seek a protective order, but in no event be less than fourteen days since the date of service or delivery to the patient and the health care provider of the foregoing. Thereafter the request for discovery or compulsory process shall be served on the health care provider.

⁽²⁾ Without the written consent of the patient, the health care provider may not disclose the health care information sought under subsection (1) of this section if the requestor has not complied with the requirements of subsection (1) of this section. In the absence of a protective order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction forbidding compliance, the health

provides that an attorney seeking health care information from a health care provider per a discovery request must give advance notice of at least 14 days to both the health care provider and the patient so either may obtain a "protective order." The health care provider cannot provide the requested information without the written consent of the patient unless the attorney requesting the information has complied with the advance notice requirements. RCW 70.02.060(2). It is apparent that the statute requires a health care provider provide the requested records unless a court modifies or precludes the hospital from doing so.

Peterson has not provided any affidavit or documentation that he attempted to comply with or conformed to the requirements of RCW 70.02.060, in advance of his request to the trial court to order a subpoena duces tecum for the victim's medical records. Peterson's unbending tactical approach of exclusively relying on CrR 4.8 as his authority to compel the superior court to order medical documents avoided

care provider shall disclose the information in accordance with this chapter. In the case of compliance, the request for discovery or compulsory process shall be made a part of the patient record.

RCW 70.02.060 (emphasis added).

⁽³⁾ Production of health care information under this section, in and of itself, does not constitute a waiver of any privilege, objection, or defense existing under other law or rule of evidence or procedure.

the procedural requirements of RCW 70.02.060, disallowing the hospital and Zielke the ability to be heard and potentially quash the subpoena duces tecum and/or limit its potential use, including the redistribution of Zielke's protected medical records to third parties. Peterson's procedural maneuver also excluded Zielke and/or the hospital from moving the trial court to conduct an in-camera review of the requested medical records to the extent necessary for Peterson's motion. *See* CrR 4.7(h)(6).

As with Peterson's other available remedies and in pursuit of his inflexible tactic to compel the medical records by a subpoena duces tecum under CrR 4.8, he chose not to request the Court of Appeals order a reference hearing regarding his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, to determine the existence of the medical records and/or their contents. If a reference hearing had been granted, Peterson could have presumably followed RCW 70.02, and subpoenaed the victim's medical records for the reference hearing in an attempt to establish his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. It is unknown why he chose not to do so.

Having failed to use the appropriate statutory, compulsory mechanism to obtain the victim's medical records, Peterson cannot now complain that the Court of Appeals erred in denying a post-conviction discovery motion improperly made under CrR 4.8.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondent requests this Court deny the petitioner's request for review.